THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Supreme Court

RECEIVED

SEP 06 2018

APPEAL FROM HORRY COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

S.C. SUPREME COURT

Honorable Benjamin H. Culbertson, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2017-002281

STEPHEN C. STANKO #6022.....PETITIONER,

v.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA.....RESPONDENT.

PETITION FOR A WRIT OF CERTIORARI

LINDSEY S. VANN
SC Bar No. 101408
EMILY C. PAAVOLA
SC Bar No. 77855
Justice 360
900 Elmwood Ave., Suite 200
Columbia, SC 29201
(803) 765-1044
Counsel for Petitioner

Other Counsel of Record:

CAROLINE M. SCRANTOM
Office of the Attorney General
P.O. Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
Counsel for Respondent

QUESTIONS PRESENTED

I.

Whether the PCR Court erred in failing to grant Petitioner a new trial under circumstances where his trial counsel operated under an actual conflict of interest, due to trial counsel representing him at a prior trial in which the effectiveness of his representation was being challenged by Petitioner, and where the conflict of interest and resulting risks were never adequately explained to Petitioner in order for him to make a knowing waiver of the conflict of interest.

II.

Whether the PCR Court erred in denying funding for expert assistance to investigate and present evidence in support of Petitioner's constitutional claims for post-conviction relief where the PCR Court applied an erroneous standard by requiring Petitioner to demonstrate the expert assistance would lead to a favorable result prior to authorizing funding.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Petitioner Stephen Stanko was represented by the same attorney, William I. Diggs (“Diggs”), when he faced death penalty trials in two neighboring counties (Georgetown and Horry) – for crimes committed within twenty-four hours of each other. In 2006, Petitioner was convicted of murder and sentenced to death in Georgetown County after Diggs presented – both as the basis for an insanity defense and in “mitigation” – that Petitioner was a psychopath.

Before Petitioner was tried in Horry County, in November of 2009, Petitioner filed a post-conviction relief application (on October 17, 2008) alleging Diggs provided ineffective assistance of counsel at the Georgetown County trial. In spite of the pending PCR application, Diggs continued his representation of Petitioner at the Horry County trial. Both the Horry trial and Georgetown PCR courts raised concerns over whether there was a conflict of interest because Diggs was continuing his representation when Petitioner had alleged ineffective assistance of counsel claims against him. The State believed a non-waivable conflict of interest existed and asked the trial court to review the status of Diggs as counsel, especially given that Diggs planned to present the same not guilty by reason of insanity defense and mitigation presentation at the Horry County trial. Neither Diggs nor his Horry County co-counsel, Brana Williams, ever reviewed the Georgetown County PCR application or discussed it with Petitioner. Diggs, instead, repeatedly informed the courts that Petitioner wanted Diggs to remain as his counsel with no acknowledgment of the risks created by the conflict.

At no time during Diggs’s Horry County representation was Petitioner informed of the nature of the conflict of interest afflicting Diggs. *See Duncan v. State*, 281 S.C. 435, 438, 315 S.E.2d 809, 811 (1984) (finding a conflict of interest exists “when a defense attorney places himself in a situation inherently conducive to divided loyalties”). No one (not the trial court, Petitioner’s attorneys, the State, nor independent counsel) explained to Petitioner that Diggs’s

professional reputation was at stake as a result of Petitioner's allegations that Diggs provided ineffective assistance at the Georgetown County trial and that any changes Diggs made in the Horry County trial could be evidence against Diggs in support of a finding that he was, in fact, ineffective. Thus, the PCR application meant Diggs was more likely to repeat any mistakes he made at the first trial, which resulted in Petitioner being sentenced to death. Having never been informed of the nature of the conflict, Petitioner asserted he wanted to continue with Diggs's representation and the trial court allowed him to do so. Diggs presented a nearly identical defense in the second trial and Petitioner was again convicted and sentenced to death.

After trial and direct appeal, Petitioner filed a PCR application in Horry County, challenging his convictions and sentence. He was appointed counsel who began investigating his case. PCR counsel quickly learned that Diggs conducted virtually no investigation before deciding to present a not guilty by reason of insanity defense at Petitioner's trials and that Diggs decided on the defense theory (that Petitioner had brain damage and was a psychopath) prior to any mental health expert meeting or evaluating Petitioner. PCR counsel, therefore, asked the PCR court for authorization to retain experts to assist in investigating Petitioner's mental health and life history as part of a claim that trial counsel failed to adequately investigate and present mitigating evidence at Petitioner's Horry County trial. The PCR court denied funding for all experts, stating: "The statute does not authorize funding for services which cannot be deemed reasonably necessary to the applicant's representation until after the services are performed and a beneficial result obtained." By requiring Petitioner to first prove that expert assistance would result in a successful PCR claim in order to authorize funding, the PCR court prevented Petitioner from obtaining expert assistance. Over Petitioner's objection and repeated requests for reconsideration, the PCR court held a hearing on Petitioner's claims. Without expert assistance, Petitioner was unable to present

evidence to support seven of his claims for relief. The PCR court denied relief on all of Petitioner's claims. The PCR Court's findings are not supported by probative evidence, its legal conclusions are controlled by multiple errors of law, and this Court should grant certiorari and reverse or remand for further proceedings with funding for expert assistance.

RELEVANT FACTS

Petitioner, Stephen Stanko, was charged with two murders which occurred within a span of approximately twenty-four hours. One occurred in Georgetown County and the other – the crime connected with the charges underlying this case – occurred in Horry County. The Solicitor overseeing criminal prosecutions in both counties (because they are in the same judicial circuit) decided to seek the death penalty in both counties. As a result, Petitioner was tried in death penalty trials in both Georgetown County (in 2006) and Horry County (in 2009). At both trials, Petitioner was represented by lead counsel William I. Diggs (“Diggs”), who presented virtually the same defense at both trials – that Petitioner is a brain damaged psychopath, and should be found not guilty by reason of insanity. Both juries rejected the defense, found Petitioner guilty, and sentenced Petitioner to death. Petitioner is, therefore, under a sentence of death in both Georgetown and Horry Counties.

I. GEORGETOWN COUNTY TRIAL PREPARATION AND PROCEEDINGS.

Petitioner was arrested on April 11, 2005 and charged with murder in both Georgetown and Horry Counties. The Georgetown County case proceeded to trial first and Diggs was appointed as Petitioner’s counsel, with Gerald Kelly who was previously appointed, on August 30, 2005. App. 4461. Diggs first met with Petitioner on September 22, 2005, App. 4461, and ultimately took responsibility for working with mental health experts to explain why Petitioner committed the crimes. App. 4192. Prior to having any expert evaluate Petitioner, Diggs settled on his defense theory and identified Dr. Thomas Sachy, a psychiatrist from the Atlanta area, as a potential expert to support his theory. On March 20, 2006, Diggs contacted Dr. Sachy by telephone. App. 4204. They had a thirty-minute telephone call after which Diggs noted on his timesheet for that day: “He will be our expert.” App. 4204. Diggs made this decision before any expert had evaluated Petitioner and after Dr. Sachy had only spoken with Diggs for thirty minutes. *See* App. 4204.

Dr. Sachy previously testified in a Georgia case called *Rivera*, in which he presented a theory that the defendant was a psychopath with decreased brain activity in the frontal lobes and was, therefore, insane because he could not help committing the crimes for which he stood trial. App. 4206; App. 4583-89. This was the same defense Dr. Sachy ultimately presented at Petitioner's trial, though Diggs said he did not discuss the *Rivera* case – which ended in a death sentence – with Dr. Sachy in any detail. App. 4206; App. 4583-89 (providing Diggs with information about the *Rivera* trial and its outcome).

From Diggs's brief phone call with Dr. Sachy, the decision was made to pursue the insanity defense Sachy put forward in *Rivera* and Sachy began the evaluation of Petitioner that involved numerous experts who were also involved in the *Rivera* case. See App. 4208, 4210, 4211 (discussing the involvement of Drs. Joseph Wu, Mark Einhorn, and Ruben Gur). From that point on in the trial preparation, Diggs did not consider changing the trial defense. See App. 4632. Diggs recognized there was strong evidence against Petitioner but nonetheless decided to try to convince a jury that Petitioner was not guilty by reason of insanity. App. 4195. Though Diggs was pursuing a "mental health defense" to the crime, Kelly hired a mitigation investigator Dale Davis to conduct a social history investigation. App. 4213. Davis, described Diggs as "laser focused on the [psychopath] defense." App. 4362. Davis thought this defense was actually aggravating and was a "crazy theory" because the gist was telling people Petitioner "couldn't help killing people," App. 4362, and believed using Diggs's theory as the defense was like "walking [Petitioner] to death's door." App. 4375. Davis told Diggs she did not believe the theory would work to obtain a life sentence for Petitioner, but Diggs was so obsessed with advancing psychopathy as a defense that Davis did not believe Diggs even heard her objections. App. 4362.

Davis conducted a social history investigation and did so with little input or communication from trial counsel. *See* App. 4365-66. In the course of her investigation, she collected evidence regarding Petitioner's life history and potential mental health problems. Despite not being a mental health expert, Davis recognized red flags of mental illness and sent information regarding Petitioner's obsessive compulsive tendencies and his hypergraphia¹ to trial counsel. App. 4367; 4600-04 (sending information about hypergraphia and other investigation issues to Diggs). Davis did not believe that any of the experts hired by trial counsel were provided with this information. App. 4366-67.

The Georgetown County case went to trial in August of 2006. During the guilt phase of the Georgetown County trial, Diggs presented the testimony of several experts in an effort to prove Petitioner was legally insane at the time of the Georgetown County crime. Dr. Marc Einhorn and Dr. Joseph Wu testified that their administration and review of a positron emission scan ("PET") scan of Petitioner's brain showed abnormalities in the frontal lobe that reduced frontal lobe functioning at fifty to eighty percent (compared to a normal brain). App. 5307-96. Diggs called Dr. Sachy as the "star" expert witness to describe the import of the findings from the brain scans. Dr. Sachy testified that Petitioner has a "brain defect," App. 5447, which manifested in Petitioner's brain being "unresponsive to repeated threats and jailings by the criminal system and is unresponsive to repeated psychiatric treatment." App. 5468. Dr. Sachy testified he was "100 percent certain" Petitioner is a psychopath. App. 5468. Trial counsel then argued that Petitioner

¹ Davis attached an article to the email explaining hypergraphia, which is defined as "[t]he driving compulsion to write." App. 4600-04. The article also noted that hypergraphia has been associated with temporal lobe epilepsy (a neurological condition characterized by recurrent seizures in the temporal lobe of the brain), bipolar disorder, schizophrenia, and frontotemporal dementia. App. 4600-04.

was not guilty by reason of insanity because he was a psychopath. The jury rejected the defense and found Petitioner guilty of all counts.

In the penalty phase of the trial, counsel presented additional testimony though Dr. Sacky that Petitioner's psychopathy made him prone to violence and impulsivity. App. 6068. Counsel also presented some evidence that, prior to the capital crimes, Petitioner was involved in several schemes or cons that had been reported to various state agencies but the agencies did nothing to prevent Petitioner from committing additional crimes. *See, e.g.*, App. 5680-5733 (testimony of Connie Price). Finally, counsel presented the testimony of Dr. Evelyn Califf, a Christian family counselor, who testified in generalities that Petitioner had a dysfunctional family. App. 6164-68. Dr. Califf became involved in the case two and a half weeks before testifying and stated that she found Petitioner had "a lot of psychopathic issues." App. 6181, 6186. Califf testified that in the two and a half weeks she had to prepare, she could not get in contact with Petitioner's family members. App. 6181. After hearing this evidence, the jury returned a verdict of death in approximately two (2) hours. App. 6293, 6295.

II. APPOINTMENT OF COUNSEL IN Horry COUNTY PROCEEDINGS.

Ultimately, it would be over three years between the Georgetown and Horry County trials. Diggs was also appointed to represent Petitioner in his Horry County proceedings and Brana Williams was appointed to serve as Diggs's co-counsel.

Between the Georgetown and Horry County trials, this Court upheld Petitioner's Georgetown convictions and sentence on direct appeal on February 25, 2008. *State v. Stanko (Stanko I)*, 376 S.C. 571, 658 S.E.2d 94 (2008). Petitioner then filed an initial application for post-conviction relief ("PCR") on October 17, 2008, alleging "[i]neffective assistance of trial or appellate counsel." App. 4511-16. On December 8, 2008, Judge J. Michael Baxley, who was – at

the time – the judge assigned to the Horry County trial and the Georgetown County PCR, held a hearing on the appointment of counsel in the Georgetown PCR proceedings. App. 3048-72. At that hearing, Petitioner informed Judge Baxley about the “conundrum” that existed because Diggs would be his attorney for the second trial and the PCR application in Georgetown County alleged Diggs’s ineffective assistance of counsel. App. 3066. Petitioner stated “Just because I feel he may have been ineffective in the first case does not mean that he’ll make those same ineffective mistakes in the second; because he’s learned from them, or may see them differently.” App. 3066. Judge Baxley responded that he would leave a discussion of the matter to “the attorney that’s ultimately appointed for [Petitioner].” App. 3067.

On March 4, 2009, after Judge Stephen H. John was appointed on the Horry County case to replace Judge Baxley, he raised the issue of Diggs continuing his representation given the pending PCR action. App. 3074-88. The judge opined that he thought it might be a “downright disqualification of Mr. Diggs in this matter,” but Diggs assured the Court “we’ve talked about it on a number of occasions” though he admitted he had not even “seen the PCR application.” App. 3077-78. Petitioner informed the judge that he intended to file an amended application, App. 3078, and the Court asked Petitioner to have the amended PCR application sent to him. App. 3084. Diggs asserted that he did not “have a problem with [Petitioner] making that [ineffective assistance of counsel] allegation” and asked the court to revisit the issue if the judge determined the amended PCR application created a conflict. App. 3083. The judge decided to allow Diggs to stay on the case “with the ability for the court to re-visit it in the future.” App. 3083-84.

On April 25, 2009, the State filed a motion to review the status of Diggs as counsel, asserting a “non-waivable conflict of interest exists between William I. Diggs, Esquire, and the defendant.” App. 3696-97. The State asserted that Diggs intended “to offer a similar defense and

similar mitigation utilizing the same experts from the companion case” and asked for a hearing on issue. App. 3697. The court held a hearing on June 5, 2009, prior to the filing of an amended PCR application. App. 3090-3108. At the hearing, the State asserted that its main concern was the fact that Petitioner waived the attorney-client privilege with respect to the claims he raised in the Georgetown PCR and Diggs planned to present a similar defense with the same witnesses at the Horry County trial. App. 3093. Diggs said he did not “take a position in the case on the issue,” but indicated Petitioner would like for Diggs to continue as his attorney. App. 3096. The court questioned Petitioner, who confirmed he wanted Diggs to remain on the case, App. 3101, and found that Diggs could continue to represent Petitioner. App. 3104.

On August 24, 2009, at a pretrial hearing, the State informed the court that the assistant attorney general handling the PCR case would not contact Diggs about the pending PCR application until after the conclusion of the Horry County trial. App. 3150-61. The court concluded that he “believe[d] that issue has and continues to be resolved.” App. 3158. On October 21, 2009, Petitioner filed an amended PCR application in the Georgetown County case. App. 4520-27. Despite its indication that it would consider the issue again after the amended application was filed, the court held no additional hearings on the conflict issue after the filing of the final amended application. Neither Diggs nor Williams reviewed the amended PCR application or discussed it with Petitioner. App. 4252, 4432. The case proceeded to trial in Horry County, beginning on November 9, 2009, with Diggs and Williams representing Petitioner.

III. HORRY COUNTY TRIAL PREPARATION AND PROCEEDINGS.

In preparation for Petitioner’s second death penalty trial, as the State predicted, Diggs proceeded with much the same plan as he had for the defense at the first death penalty trial. Diggs did not “consider changing the strategy at all for the second trial.” App. 4247. In June of 2009, less

than four months before the trial, Diggs asked Davis to “prepare [her] presentation of mitigation evidence for the second trial.” App. 4614. Davis believed he was not asking her to do any further investigation, but instead to re-present what had been prepared for the first trial. App. 4377. Davis refused to be involved in the case again for that reason. *See* App. 4377. Diggs did not hire a mitigation investigator to replace Davis. App. 4395. Despite her refusal to participate in the second trial, Davis attempted to convince Diggs not to offer the same defense at the Horry County trial by sending Diggs and the rest of the defense team an article about using psychopathy in criminal trials. App. 4362-63. The article stated a “new study suggests that being labeled a psychopath increases the likelihood that an offender will be locked up indefinitely or even executed.” App. 4590-99.

As trial approached, Diggs intimated that he planned to move for a change of venue, but did not formally make the motion until trial. *See* App. 3249-50. Jury qualification and individual *voir dire* began on November 9, 2009 and proceeded without a defense motion for change of venue. App. 50-1329. After individual *voir dire* was completed, but before jury selection, trial counsel moved for a change of venue based on the number of jurors in the jury pool who had prior knowledge of the case, especially the jurors with knowledge of Petitioner’s prior death sentence. App. 1343. Defense counsel proposed to offer testimony from Dr. Bernard Albinak, an expert in forensic social psychology concerning the reliability of jurors’ responses once they were examined by the court. App. 1344. Prior to the presentation of Dr. Albinak’s testimony, the State suggested the court take up the motion after the jury was selected and Diggs agreed, without objection. App. 1347-48. After jury selection, defense counsel raised the change of venue motion again and called Dr. Albinak to testify. Dr. Albinak, who testified at the Georgetown County trial about brain function, testified that in public forums, people will conform their statements to what they believe

will be generally accepted by the group even if that is not what they actually believe. App. 1395-1440. Dr. Albinak opined that the jurors, when asked by the court if they could set aside their prior knowledge of the case, would tell the judge they could do so even if it was not what they believed. App. 1405-06. The State pointed out that none of Dr. Albinak's research or studies involved juror behavior. App. 1460. No evidence was presented regarding the type or amount of media coverage surrounding the case, nor was there any evidence regarding how likely it was that jurors from Horry County would have been exposed to the media. The court denied the defense motion for a change of venue. App. 1482.

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