THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Supreme Court

APPEAL FROM Horry COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
(Capital PCR Action)
Benjamin H. Culbertson, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2017-002281

RECEIVED
JAN 16 2019
S.C. SUPREME COURT

STEPHEN C. STANKO, #6022,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

Respondent.

RETURN TO PETITION FOR A WRIT OF CERTIORARI

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

CAROLINE SCRANTOM
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina, 29211
(803) 734-6305

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

² Claims 10&11(b)(1)&(2), 10&11(d), and 10&11(e)(1)-(4). (Cert. Pet. at 45). Respondent will address these allegations in numerical order.

appropriate time and a finding of error and prejudice was not warranted.

However, Petitioner also sought relief upon an allegation that trial counsel tendered substandard representation during the change of venue motion by failing to retain a media expert or to conduct a formal study of the size and characteristics of the community where the crime occurred and the type and prevalence of media coverage related to the crimes. (*See* App. 5002-04). Counsel in this PCR action sought funding for a media saturation expert due to a “likelihood” that “Stanko could have shown that an impartial jury could not have been selected from residents of Horry County.” (App. 4924; *see also* App. 4849, 5004, n.4). The PCR court denied the funding request on the basis that this type of expert was not reasonably necessary to further the allegation.³ (App. 4183, 4901). This ruling was not an abuse of discretion. Given the record and the legal standard applicable to this claim, there was no basis upon which to grant funding for a media saturation expert.

A defendant pursuing a change of venue bears the burden of demonstrating actual juror prejudice resulting from pre-trial publicity. *Sheppard v. State*, 357 S.C. 646, 655, 594 S.E.2d 462, 467 (2004) (citing *State v. Caldwell*, 300 S.C. 494, 388 S.E.2d 816 (1990)). “[T]he relevant question is not whether the community remembered the case, but whether the jurors had such fixed opinions that they could not judge impartially the guilt of the defendant.” *Id.* In Petitioner’s

³ On the merits of the claim, the PCR court also denied Petitioner relief upon the basis that trial counsel presented a psychologist, Dr. Albinia, at trial to testify in furtherance of the change of venue motion. (App. 4980). Dr. Albinia testified that in a number of organized settings, including the courtroom, a societal pressure to appear open-minded and the presence of authority inside the courtroom may influence a person’s answering questions in conformity with what they believe to be the desired answer. (App. 1408-21, 1432). He testified that a potential juror’s questionnaire, filled out in the comfort of their own home, is “probably a better reflection of what their views are than the rehabilitation they might occur in the courtroom” during voir dire. (App. 1428).

case, this Court had already found, prior to the PCR action, that no jurors stated they could not ignore exposure to pretrial publicity. That court opined on the issue in full in its decision affirming Petitioner's conviction and sentence on direct appeal:

[A] jury in neighboring Georgetown County convicted Appellant of murder, and recommended death, prior to the trial of the instant case . . . In denying Appellant's change of venue motion, the trial court concluded that the vast majority of the jurors knew nothing about the case:

A few of them know [Appellant's] name. That's on the questionnaire they were given . . . It's no kind of pretrial publicity of any kind. And the one person that said they had some kind of information, again, without equivocation of any kind, indicated that they could set it aside.

...

In the instant case, Appellant fails to present even one juror who stated he or she could not ignore exposure to pretrial publicity prior to serving as a juror. In the case of Juror # 480, she did not claim to know specific details of the instant case or Appellant's prior conviction, and stated that she could be fair and impartial. Appellant advances broad and unsupported arguments regarding the publicity of this case, but fails to meet his burden of demonstrating actual juror prejudice as a result of that publicity. . . . The Record does not support a finding that the trial court ignored actual juror prejudice related to pretrial publicity, and thus, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying Appellant's motion to change venue.

Stanko II, 402 S.C. at 276–79, 741 S.E.2d at 720–22 (emphasis added) (citing *State v. Evins*, 373 S.C. 404, 645 S.E.2d 904 (2007); *State v. Tucker*, 334 S.C. 1, 14, 512 S.E.2d 99, 106 (1999); *State v. Caldwell*, 300 S.C. 494, 502, 388 S.E.2d 816, 821 (1990)).

A media saturation expert was not reasonably necessary to further this ineffective assistance of counsel claim given the record and the well-established legal standard which controlled the underlying merits of this issue. The expert Petitioner sought to retain would not have furthered the allegation because that expert's purported testimony did not reach to the standard necessary to grant a change of venue motion. Again, "mere exposure to pretrial

publicity does not automatically disqualify a prospective juror.” *State v. Manning*, 329 S.C. 1, 7, 495 S.E.2d 191, 194 (1997) (citing *State v. Patterson*, 324 S.C. 5, 482 S.E.2d 760, *cert. denied*, 522 U.S. 853, 118 S.Ct. 146 (1997); *State v. Caldwell*, 300 S.C. 494, 388 S.E.2d 816 (1990)). Thus, the relevant inquiry is only whether the jurors demonstrated that they could indeed refrain from partiality. Only one juror had any previous knowledge about Petitioner’s prior crimes and stated she did not “remember that much about [the crimes], and just kind of wiped it out.” (App. 664-86, 671). The remainder of the eleven jurors and the four alternates either knew nothing about the case or only had heard the name of the defendant. (App. 1477-80). In fact, each seated juror independently testified that he or she would set aside anything that they had heard or seen outside the courtroom and decide the case and issues therein based only on the evidence introduced at trial. (App. 101-17, 118-33, 185-97, 266-79, 299-86, 294-306, 149-32, 434-49, 454-66, 664-86, 724-37, 744-59, 770-82, 786-97, 866-80, 944-56). Even so, trial counsel moved to change venue and put forward expert testimony from Dr. Albinak in furtherance of the motion. *Infra* n.3. The fact that trial counsel did not prevail in a change of venue does not render his performance *per se* deficient. *See Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 689, 104 S.Ct. at 2065.

The record demonstrates that the degree of media saturation was not an issue during jury selection. Trial counsel duly moved to change venue at the appropriate time and the trial court correctly denied the motion in accord with our State’s legal standard on this issue. Petitioner did not succeed in garnering a new venue for his trial because no juror testified to knowing any particular detail about the case which would influence his or her ability to sit impartially. Therefore, funding for such a study was not reasonably necessary in furtherance of this ineffective assistance of counsel claim. S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-26(C)(1).

Guilt-Phase Claim Concerning State's Expert Dr. Spicer (Funding Request Undefined)

The PCR court denied Petitioner funding to obtain an expert to dispute the trial testimony of State's expert Dr. Kenneth Spicer, stating in its Order of Dismissal that "such evidence would have only corroborated the testimony of Dr. Wu and would not have indicated any due process violations by the State." (App. 4982, n.6). Petitioner alleged at PCR that Dr. Kenneth Spicer offered false and misleading testimony, rendering the guilt phase of the trial fundamentally unfair and violating Petitioner's right to due process. (See App. 5004-05). The certiorari petition fails to identify or argue which request for funding pertained to the guilt-phase ineffective assistance allegation concerning Dr. Spicer's testimony, and thus fails to define how the partial denial of Petitioner's funding requests resulted in a substandard presentation of this claim at PCR. (See Cert. Pet. at 45). Respondent submits that the issue presented has been abandoned insofar as it relates to the PCR allegation about Dr. Spicer. See *Bryson v. Bryson*, 378 S.C. 502, 510, 662 S.E.2d 611, 615 (Ct. App. 2008) ("An issue is deemed abandoned and will not be considered on appeal if the argument is raised in a brief but not supported by authority."). "Short, conclusory statements made without supporting authority are deemed abandoned on appeal and therefore not presented for review." *Glasscock, Inc. v. U.S. Fid. & Guar. Co.*, 348 S.C. 76, 81, 557 S.E.2d 689, 691 (Ct. App. 2001). Petitioner at no time argued facts in support of funding that would assist in development of this allegation. (App. 4768-78, 4808-17, 4843-51, 4910-26).

Moreover, this allegation was not appropriate before the PCR court because the claim itself did not pertain to the ineffective assistance of counsel. "The *Simmons* rule gives effect to the Legislature's clear intent that the post-conviction relief procedure is not a substitute for appeal or a place for asserting errors for the first time which could have been reviewed on direct appeal." *Drayton v. Evatt*, 312 S.C. 4, 430 S.E.2d 517 (1993) (citing *Simmons v. State*, 264 S.C.

417, 215 S.E.2d 883 (1975)); S.C. Code Ann. § 17-27-20(B) PCR “is not a substitute for nor does it affect any remedy incident to the proceedings in the trial court, or of direct review of the sentence or conviction”). And even if cognizable, the record lends no support to the allegation that the State’s rebuttal witness testified in any untruthful manner. The State put forth Dr. Spicer, an employee of MUSC with residency training in diagnostic radiology and fellowship experience in nuclear medicine, in reply to Petitioner’s presentation of a number of medical experts. (App. 2446-90). Using the same data as that relied upon by Petitioner’s expert, Dr. Spicer’s reply testimony did not include any new diagnosis or previously un-introduced information related to Petitioner’s mental and/or physical condition. The State called Dr. Spicer in reply to critique the methodology utilized by defense witnesses Drs. Wu and Sachy in their PET scan analysis as well as to offer a competing opinion regarding Petitioner’s PET scan.⁴ (App. 2465-97). The State ably presented its own expert testimony in refutation of Petitioner’s case-in-chief. *Daniel v. Tower Trucking Co.*, 205 S.C. 333, 32 S.E.2d 5, 10 (1944) (“He upon whom lies the burden of proof has the right to offer reply (rebuttal) testimony to that of his adversary and the latter’s witnesses, provided it is in the nature of true reply and not such as should have been offered in the case in chief.”).

Sentencing-Phase Claims Related to Petitioner’s Mental Health and Life Histories
(Funding Request for a Forensic Psychologist and Licensed Social Worker)

⁴ Although not framed as an ineffective assistance of counsel allegation, trial counsel clearly delineated during cross-examination that Dr. Spicer appeared unfamiliar with the continuous performance test and PET methodology utilized by Petitioner’s own experts. (App. 2482-2509). In fact, trial counsel testified at PCR that he anticipated Dr. Spicer’s testimony and spearheaded his contrasting theory during his direct examination of Dr. Wu during the guilt phase. (App. 4280-83; *see* App. 2213-22). And since Dr. Spicer offered no diagnosis, a surrebuttal was not warranted. *Contra United States v. Barnett*, 211 F.3d 803, 822 (4th Cir. 2000) (surrebuttal denied in error where State’s rebuttal expert diagnosed capital defendant, for the first time during trial, as a psychopath, and the surrebuttal evidence would not have been cumulative or repetitive).

Petitioner requested funding for a forensic psychologist, claiming “a competent and reliable mental health evaluation has never been completed” and trial counsel orchestrated an “inadequate mental health evaluation.” (Cert. Pet. 40-42). Petitioner also requested funding for a licensed social worker “to expend up to 200 hours to conduct a social history evaluation and prepare to present Petitioner’s social history to the PCR court.” (Cert. Pet. 37-40).

The PCR court declined to find funding for a forensic psychologist reasonably necessary because Petitioner failed to provide facts in support of an indication that Petitioner suffered from any mental illness other than what seven experts testified to at his criminal trial, wherein Petitioner pursued an insanity defense. (App. 4804-05, 4836-37). As stated by the PCR court: “In other words, the court cannot authorize funding for expert, investigative or other services simply to determine if the criminal trial counsel ‘missed something’ without anything to support a finding that the ‘something’ existed in this first place.” (App. 4837, *see also* 4984 n.7). The PCR court granted leave to present additional facts in support in a new request for funding, (App. 4805 n.4), which Petitioner failed to do. Similarly, the PCR court declined to find funding for a licensed social worker reasonably necessary because Petitioner’s argument “that criminal trial counsel ‘missed something’” was unsupported in the context of the funding motion. (App. 4901; *see also* 4984 n.7). In so finding, the PCR court did not abuse its discretion.

First, the PCR court did grant funding for a mitigation investigator, (App. 4802-03), and a fact investigator (App. 4831-4836). However, Petitioner furthered no funding request for either a forensic psychologist or a licensed social worker with facts obtained as a result of these funded investigations. Petitioner thus failed to demonstrate how funding for the presentation of a social history differing from the one presented at trial was reasonably necessary. Likewise, Petitioner failed to put forth any facts uncovered during their investigation that indicated Petitioner may be

a candidate for a mental health diagnosis that differed from those presented at trial.

Second, Petitioner indeed received the benefit of examination upon examination of a number of qualified psychiatric experts at trial. Petitioner presented at trial a well-credentialed physiological psychologist (Dr. Albinak), a well-credentialed psychiatrist and neuropsychiatrist (Dr. Sachy), a well-credentialed neuropsychologist (Dr. Gur), a well-credentialed expert in PET scan imaging and neuropsychiatric disorder (Dr. Wu), and still another well-credentialed psychiatrist (Dr. Thrasher) and well-credential psychologist (Dr. Einhorn). Each testified in support of the defense pursued at trial. (See App. 1993, 2046, 2118, 2178, 2207, 2277). A qualified social historian also presented Petitioner's social history. (App. 2913-32). It would be difficult to fault trial counsel for relying on such experts, as counsel is under no obligation to second-guess the contents of expert reports. See *Byram v. Ozmint, supra*; *Wilson v. Greene, supra*; see also *Philmore v. McNeil*, 575 F.3d 1251, 1263 (11th Cir. 2009) (counsel has no duty to present all psychiatric evidence and decision not to present additional psychiatric evidence may be reasonable). Moreover, counsel has no duty to pursue neurological experts when experts consulted indicated no additional testing was required, *Walls v. Bowersox*, 151 F.3d 827, 835 (8th Cir. 1998), or found no evidence of brain damage. *Wright v. Angelone*, 151 F.3d 151, 163 (4th Cir. 1998).

Given this record, counsel had no duty to contact other experts when he thought those consulted were well qualified and counsel has no duty to question the trustworthiness of his experts' conclusions. Neither reasonable counsel nor PCR counsel need 'shop' for contrary expert opinions. *Thames v. State, supra*; *Jones v. State, supra*; see also *Hendricks v. Calderon*, 70 F.3d 1032, 1038 (9th Cir. 1995); *Forsyth v. Ault*, 537 F.3d 887, 892 (8th Cir. 2008). Petitioner put forward no specific, articulable facts in support of its funding requests to support a finding

that the expert services of either a forensic psychologist or licensed social worker were reasonably necessary. None of the facts cited in Petitioner's requests differed from those presented in mitigation at trial. At best, Petitioner sought "a fancier mitigation case" at PCR than was presented at trial, which does not compel funding for expert and investigative services. *Jones v. State*, 332 S.C. at 339, 504 S.E.2d at 827. Thus, the PCR court did not abuse its discretion in denying these funding requests, and certiorari to review this action is not warranted.

CONCLUSION

Respondent requests this Court deny the petition for a writ of certiorari for the reasons discussed herein.